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LYNCH, Circuit Judge. In Septenber of 1997, U. S. Custons

agents i ntercepted a contai ner hol di ng cocaine bricks with a street
val ue of closetoone billiondollars. The cocai ne was am dst cartons
of plastic cups. Ajury convicted José Ranbn Her nandez and Dougl as
Gorbea Del -Valle of various federal offenses associated with a
conspiracy toinport, possess, and distribute this cocai ne. Gorbea
claimed to be the owner of the container; Hernandez and hi s conpany
transported the container in Puerto Rico. Her nandez was gi ven
concurrent sentences of 293 nont hs on each of five counts, and Gor bea
was gi ven concurrent sentences of 292 nont hs on each of four counts.

Bot h def endants appeal, alleging numerous errors. W affirm

l.
W briefly sketch the facts here, saving the details for the
anal ysis of the defendants' clainms.
On Septenber 27, 1997, U.S. Custons officials received
information that a particul ar contai ner, whi ch was expectedto arrive
at the Crow ey Yard i n San Juan, Puerto Ri co, contai ned contraband.

The contai ner had been shipped by sea from Venezuela. Custons
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of ficials |ocatedthe contai ner the next day, placed an el ectroni c hold
onit, and novedit to Custonms facilities in Catafio for inspection.
The bi Il of | adingindicatedthat the contai ner hel d di sposabl e pl astic
cups, that the consi gnee was a supermarket, and t hat t he consi gnee's
representative was Sout h Atl anti c Tradi ng Conpany ( SATCO . Defendant
Gor bea was one of the owners of SATCOand ran its busi ness. He was
|isted as the personto be notifiedof the container's arrival. On
unl oadi ng t he cont ai ner, Custons agents di scovered t hat sonme of the
boxes of plastic cups contained bricks of cocaine. All inall, the
agents renoved 7, 514 pounds (a gross wei ght of approxi mately 3, 415
ki | ograns) of cocai ne fromthe container. Approxinately 141 of the 830
boxes in the container contained cocaine.

The Custons agents repacked the container, |eaving
approxi mately 24 pounds (10 ki | ograns) of cocaineinit. The agents
installed electronic equipnment that allowed themto track the
container's | ocation and to determ ne whet her it had been opened. The
container was returnedtothe Crowl ey Yard, where it was pl aced under
24-hour surveill ance.

On Sept enber 29, defendant CGorbea cal |l ed t he Cust ons of fi ce,
identifiedhinself as the owner of the container, and asked why t he
cont ai ner had been taken to Cat afio for i nspection. He was told that
t here was no probl emw th the container and t hat he could pick it up

| ater that day. Around Cctober 1, Gorbea went to t he custons br oker
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and arranged f or paynent of the frei ght charges associated with the
contai ner. An enpl oyee of the custons broker saidthat Gorbeawas in
a hurrytoreceivethis shipnent. Infact, Gorbea hadinstructed his
secretary tocall the custons broker several tinmesto "see what the
status [of this shipnment] was and to hasten them"

The cust ons br oker conpl et ed t he necessary paperwor k by t he
next day, October 2. That day, two enpl oyees of J.R Transport, a
conpany owned by def endant Herndndez, arrived at Crowl ey Yard t o pi ck
up the container. The driver, Alain Ruiz-Glindez,'retrievedthe
contai ner and drove it out of Crow ey Yard.

The truck st opped several tinmes duringits route, sonetines
remai ni ng stopped for half an hour or nore. Atripthat thedistrict
court judge esti mat ed woul d normal | y t ake about hal f an hour to nake
t ook about four hours. At tinmes when sone of the other cars onthe
road had their headlights on, the truck drove without its headlights.

Her nandez followed the truck inagray vanfromthetineit
| eft Cowl ey Yard. During one of the stopovers, Hernandez energed from
t he gray van and got intothe truck with Rui z- Gal i ndez. Hernéandez
remainedinthetruck for the durationof itstrip and, at sone point,

t he gray van st opped fol |l ow ng t he truck. Eventual |y, the truck arrived

1 Rui z- Gal i ndez was acquitted at trial. Edward Mal donado- Baez,
t he enpl oyee who signed the bill of | ading and who directed Rui z-
Galindez toretrieve the container, enteredinto a plea agreenent with
t he government prior to trial.
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at J.R Transport's truck yard. One of the officers foll owi ngthe
truck reported that a nunber of peopleinaCrown Victoriaarrived at
J.R Transport around the sanme tinme. He reported that one of the
passengers inthe Crown Victori a appeared to be gi ving orders and t hat
one of the passengers was hol di ng a "dark, bl ack | ong obj ect." The
i ndividual sinthetruck yard greeted and congr at ul at ed one anot her
once the container was nmoved into the |ot.

After wat chi ng t he peopl e and cars com ng and goingintothe
truck yard, the officers noved in. Arrests were nade and t he cont ai ner
was seized. It had not been opened.

Corbea was arrested i n Decenber. At thetine of his arrest,
a docunent was foundin his briefcase. It was a fax dated February 5,
1997, froma Mari na Kassert i n Venezuel ato Gorbea regardi ng an earlier
shi pnent of plastic cups. It said, "I urgently need the information of
your friend that has thetruck to square everythingwith him" Onthe
back of the fax, Gorbea had written the name José Hernandez.

At the time of the cocai ne shi pnent, Gorbea' s conpany was
primarily inthe business of inporting crackers. Another trucker was
used for transporting the shipnents of crackers. Al thoughthis trucker
haul ed sonme shi pments of plastic cups, the evidence suggests t hat
Hernandez's trucki ng conpany was used only for plastic cup shipnents.



The jury found t he defendants guilty of all charges.? On
appeal , Gorbea challenges the district court's denial of his notion for
j udgnment of acquittal, arguing that the governnent failed "to prove
beyond a reasonabl e doubt t hat [ he] knewhe was i nporti ng cocai ne,"” an
essential el enent "for any of the violations of federal | awchargedin
the i ndictnent."” GCorbea al so argues that the prosecut or made i nproper
comments during closing argunents that denied hima fair trial.

Her nandez chal | enges t he deni al of his notion for judgnent
of acquittal, saying that there was insufficient evidence of his
know edge of the schene and his voluntary participationinit to
support his convictions. Hernandez al so argues that the district court
erred in allowing testinmony as to the street val ue of the seized
cocai ne, that he shoul d not have been hel d responsi bl e for theentire
guantity of cocai ne sei zed, and t hat he shoul d have been sentenced to

a mninmmtermof inprisonnment of 120 nont hs.

2 Her nandez was charged with five counts: conspiracy to possess
Wthintent todistribute approximately 3,017 kil ograns of cocainein
violationof 21 U. S.C. 88 841(a)(1) and 846 (Count One); ai di ng and
abetting in the attenpt to possess with intent to distribute
approxi mately 3,017 kil ograns of cocaineinviolationof 21 U.S.C.
8§ 846 and 18 U. S.C. 8 2 (Count Two); aiding and abetting in the
possessionwi thintent to distribute approximtely 10 kil ograns of
cocaineinviolationof 21 U S.C. §841(a)(1) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Count
Three); conspiracy toinport approxi mately 3,017 kil ograns of cocai ne
intothe United States in violationof 21 U S.C. 8§ 952(a) and 963
(Count Four); and ai di ng and abettinginthe inportation of cocai ne
intothe United States inviolationof 21 U S.C. 952(a) and 18 U. S. C.
8§ 2 (Count Five). GCorbea was charged with Counts One, Two, Four, and
Fi ve.
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1.
We review each of the defendants' clains in turn.

A. Denial of the Mtions for Judgnent of Acquittal.

At trial, Gorbea and Hernandez opted not to present any
evidence intheir defense and noved, at t he cl ose of the governnent's
case, for a judgnment of acquittal under Federal Rule of Crim nal
Procedure 29.3 Before the district court, Gorbea argued that "the
el ement of know edge i s not present inthe case and the United States
has failed to prove at any time the elenent of possession.”
Her ndndez' s primary argunent tothe district court was that there was
i nsuf ficient proof of "any agreenment between hi mor any ot her of the
def endants to posses[s] with intent to distribute cocaine or to
posses[s] or toattenpt toinport intothe United States the cocaine.”

Viewi ng the evidence in the |ight nost favorable to the
governnent, the district court deniedthe notions. The district court
poi nted to t he "abundance of evi dence presented by t he governnent.” 1In
particular, thedistrict court reliedon evidencethat (1) thebill of
lading listed a supermarket as the consi gnee, even though that
super mar ket had never purchased pl astic cups fromSATCO, (2) there was

a change i n t he trucki ng conpany used and i n SATCO s st andar d oper ati ng

3 Because t he def endant s di d not present any evidenceintheir
defense, it was not necessary for themto renewtheir notions to
preserve revi ewof the sufficiency of the evidence issue. See United
States v. Taylor, 54 F.3d 967, 975 (1st Cir. 1995); United States v.
Cheung, 836 F.2d 729, 730 n.1 (1st Cir. 1988).
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procedures for plastic cup shipments; (3) although SATCO was in
financial trouble, it was selling plastic cups at aloss; (4) shipnents
of plastic cups often were not deliveredto SATCOuntil a del ay of one
or two days after they were pi cked up at the dock; (5) Rui z-Gal i ndez,
the driver, gave an untrue account of his activities when he was
i nterrogated by the police onthe day of the surveillance; (6) Ruiz-
Gal i ndez and Her nandez gave t he cont ai ner their "undi vi ded attenti on"
and t ook four hours todrive the container fromCrow ey Yard to their
destination, a distance that nornal |l y woul d not take "nore than hal f an
hour” to drive; (7) there were "concerns about the | oad," as evi denced
by the arrival of the individuals in the Crown Victoria and "what
appearedto[a |l awenforcenent officer] to be aweapon”; (8) aroundthe
ti me that the shipnents of plastic cups began, Gorbea had begun usi ng
t he ni cknane "Wl | ace” and recei vi ng phone cal I s, whi ch he woul d only
take in private, fromsoneone who identified hinself as "Wal |l ace"; and
(9) when one of the earlier containers of plastic cups had arrived at
SATCOwW th hal f of the boxes m ssing and with sone of the boxes opened
and scatteredinthetrailer, Gorbea hadtold his secretary he "al ready
knewit" and that it "didn't matter." On appeal, both Gorbea and
Her nandez chal | enge the di strict court's denial of their notions for

j udgnment of acquittal.?

4 "[Cl hall enges to the sufficiency of the evidence andtothe
deni al of the notion for judgnment of acquittal raise asingleissue"
and t hus we apply the traditional sufficiency of the evidence standard
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Def endant s chal | engi ng convi ctions for i nsufficiency of
evi dence face an uphill battle on appeal. W review de novo the

district court's Rule 29 determ nati ons. See United States v.

Her nandez, 146 F.3d 30, 32 (1st G r. 1998). However, "[o] ur revi ewof
the district court's decisionto deny anotionfor acquittal is quite
limted; we nust affirmunl ess the evidence, viewed inthelight nost
favorabl e to t he governnment, coul d not have persuaded any tri er of fact

of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonabl e doubt.” United States v.

Par adi s, 802 F. 2d 553, 559 (1st Gr. 1986); see United States v. Loder,

23 F. 3d 586, 589 (1st Gr. 1994) (referring to the "form dabl e st andard
of review' applicable to such cases). "[T]he governnent need not
present evidence that precludes every reasonable hypothesis
inconsistent withguilt inorder tosustainaconviction." Loder, 23
F.3d at 590. Rather, "the total evidence, with all reasonable
i nferences nmade inthe light nost favorabl e to the governnent, nust be
such that arational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a
reasonabl e doubt." 1d. In applying this standard, "no prem umis
pl aced upon di rect as opposed to circunstanti al evi dence; both types of

pr oof can adequately ground a conviction." United States v. Ortiz, 966

totheseclains. United States v. Morillo, 158 F. 3d 18, 22 (1st Cir.
1998) (internal quotation marks and citation onmtted); see United
States v. Loder, 23 F.3d 586, 590 (1st Cir. 1994) ("[T] his court
reviews a district court's denial of a defendant's notion for a
j udgrment of acquittal usingtheidentical standard enpl oyed to neasure
the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a guilty verdict.")
(internal quotation marks and citation omtted).

-10-



F.2d 707, 711 (1st Cir. 1992). And in conductingits review, this
court cannot wei gh t he evi dence or make credibility judgnments; these
tasks are solelywithinthe jury's province. Seeid. The court must
reject only "those evidentiary interpretations . . . that are

unr easonabl e, i nsupportabl e, or overly specul ative,”" United States v.

Spi nney, 65 F. 3d 231, 234 (1st G r. 1995), and nust uphol d any verdi ct
that is "supported by a plausible rendition of therecord,"Otiz, 966
F.2d at 711.

The def endant s chal | enge t he suffi ci ency of the evi dence as
to both their conspiracy and ai di ng and abetting convictions. To prove
conspi racy, the government nust show"t he exi stence of a conspiracy,
t he def endant's know edge of the conspiracy, and t he defendant's

voluntary participationinthe conspiracy.” United States v. Gonez-

Pabon, 911 F.2d 847, 852 (1st Cir. 1990). To establish that the
def endant s bel onged to and partici patedinthe drug conspiracy, the
gover nnent nust showtwo ki nds of intent: "intent to agree and i ntent
tocommt the substantive offense.” [d. at 853 (i nternal quotation
marks and citation omtted). Aiding and abetting requires the
governnent to showthat a def endant "participatedinthe venture and

sought by [his] actions to nake it succeed.” United States v.

Guerrero, 114 F. 3d 332, 341 (1st Gr. 1997) (i nternal quotation marks
andcitationomtted). This burdenisfulfilledby "a show ngthat the

def endant consciously shared the principal's know edge of the
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underlying crimnal act, and intended to hel pthe principal." Spinney,

65 F. 3d at 235. Know edge of the particul ar control | ed subst ance bei ng

inmported or distributedis not necessary, see United States v. Kairouz,

751 F. 2d 467, 468-69 (1st Cr. 1985); cf. Gonmez- Pabon, 911 F. 2d at 853,

and intent todistribute canbeinferredfromthe quantity of drugs

i nvol ved, see United States v. Echeverri, 982 F. 2d 675, 678 (1st Q.

1993) .
1. Gorbea

At bottom Gorbea's argunent is, as to both the conspiracy
and t he ai di ng and abetting convictions, that the governnent failedto
prove intent because it offered insufficient proof that he had
knowl edge of the crim nal schenme and made a consci ous decision to
participate in it and further its objectives.

A reasonabl e jury coul d have found Gorbea guilty of the
crimes charged beyond a reasonable doubt. A great deal of
circunstantial evidence |inked Gorbeato the schenme and i ndicated his
knowl edge of the schene's contours. Shipnents of plastic cups were
handl ed di fferently t han were shi pnents of other itens i nported by
SATCO. Corbea' s invol venent i nthese shi pnents was nor e ext ensi ve t han
was hi s i nvol venent inthe shipnents of crackers -- SATCO s primary
busi ness line. Unusually, Gorbeainsistedontakingcallsinprivate
froma personidentifying hinmself as "Wal |l ace" around the ti me SATCO

began i nporting pl astic cups. SATCOI nported the cups even though it
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| ost noney on them Hernandez's enpl oyees, rather than the nornal
t rucki ng conpany used for shi pments of crackers, were soneti nes used to
retrieve and deliver the plastic cups. At | east one shi pnment of cups
had arrived at SATCOin a state that suggested that t he boxes had been
opened and sonet hi ng renoved prior to delivery to SATCO Wen Corbea's
secretary brought this fact to his attention, Gorbea said that he

"al ready knewit" andthat it "didn't matter." Gorbea showed concern
about t he shi pment of plastic cupsinvolvedinthis case: heinstructed
his secretary to call the customnms broker to hurry things up, and he
hi msel f call ed the custons office to ask why t he cont ai ner had been
taken of f-site on a Sunday for i nspection. Quite conpellingisthe
fact that the consignee listed on the bill of |ading had never
pur chased pl astic cups fromSATCO and had no i nt enti on of purchasi ng
any of the cups inthe container. Indeed, Gorbea described hinself as
t he owner of the container. This evidence, together with the fact that
the previous shipnments of cups had been sold at a loss, readily

supports the rational conclusion that the shiprments of cups were nerely

a vehicle and a subterfuge for the larger crimnal schene.

Gorbea, quotingUnited States v. DeLutis, 722 F. 2d 902, 906
(1st Cir. 1983), dism sses this evidence as "the piling of 'unfounded
and unsupported i nferences on top of each other.'" Hi s argunent
i gnores the fact that "[c] hains of inferenceareafanm liar, widely

accepted ingredi ent” of any process of reasoni ng and that they are
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"regularly relieduponinthereal mof human endeavor, and shoul d not
be forbiddento acrimmnal jury." Spinney, 65F.3d at 238. Juries
"take full advantage of their coll ective experience and conmon sense”
i n eval uating the evidence presented tothemat trial and reaching a
verdict. |d. at 237 (internal quotation marks and citationomtted).
That these i nferences are based on circunstanti al evidence is of no
i nport. Intent can be proven "wholly on the basis of circunstanti al

evidence." United States v. Taylor, 54 F. 3d 967, 975 (1st Gr. 1995);

see Spinney, 65 F.3d at 234 ("Reliance on indirect, as opposed to

direct, evidence in a crimnal case is both perm ssible and
conmonpl ace."). Gventhe nature of the crine, "[k] now edge and i nt ent
innarcotics cases often nust be proved | argely by circunstanti al

evidence." United States v. Valencia, 907 F.2d 671, 678 (7th Cir.

1990).

There is sufficient evidenceintherecordto support the
concl usi on t hat Gor bea knewof and actively participatedinthe schene
toinport and di stribute cocaine. Acontainer carrying al arge anount
of cocai ne was shi pped to Puerto Ri co, and Gorbea was | i sted as t he
person to be notified of its arrival. He was the person with the
contacts in Venezuela, and he arranged for the retrieval of the

container. Cf. Echeverri, 982 F.2d at 678 ("Both constructive

possessi on and guilty know edge may be inferred froma def endant's

dom ni on and control over an area where narcotics are found."). It
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strains credulity to suggest that he would not have known the
container's contents or the plans for distributingthem Gorbea cannot
claimto be aninnocent third party t hrough whose hands contraband
coul d easily pass unknown. He was the intended recipient of the
cont ai ner, and he exerci sed control over the container onceit | anded
inPuerto Rico. That the name of the consignee was fabricated and
Gorbea seenmed to have little beneficial, economc use for the
container's legitimte contents only fortifies this conclusion. The
jury's inferences arerooted in a plausiblereadingof therecord and
t hei r concl usi ons regar di ng know edge, intent, and participation flow
logically fromthese reasonabl e i nferences.® Thus, we affirmthe
district court's denial of Gorbea's nmotion for judgnent of acquittal.
2. Hernéndez
Her nandez ar gues t hat hi s notion for judgnment of acquittal

shoul d have been grant ed because t he gover nnent produced no evi dence
t hat he "knew of the existence of the cocaine inside the seal ed
cont ai ner" or that he "knowi ngly participatedin or know ngly hel ped

facilitate" the schene toinport and di stribute cocai ne. |nstead, he

5 Perhaps in a last ditch effort to convince us of the
i nsufficiency of the evidence supporting his convictions, Corbea casts
aspersions on sone of the testinony offered at trial and relied upon by
the district court indenying his nmotionfor judgnent of acquittal.
These argunents are to no avail. It is not our role to assess the
credibility of trial witnesses or toresolve conflicts inthe evidence,
i nst ead we nust resol ve all suchissuesinfavor of the verdict. See
Morillo, 158 F.3d at 22.
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says t he evi dence shows only that he was nerely present at t he scene of
the crime. That is not so.

Her nandez' s best argunent is that he only participatedinthe
transport of the container fromCrowl ey Yardto the J. R Transport
truck yard and t hat he never opened t he cont ai ner, so he di d not know
what he was transporting. Nonethel ess, areasonable jury couldinfer
hi s knowl edge of the contents of the contai ner and his participationin
t he | arger schene. The manner in which the container was transported
i n his conmpany's truck was unusual , suspi ci ous, and evasi ve, both whil e
he followed the truck in the van and while he was in the truck.
Further, Hernandez acted as a |l ook-out mght, followingthetruckin
hi s van and gettingintothetruck only after it was sonme di stance from

Crowm ey Yard. Cf. Paradis, 802 F. 2d at 564 (citing evidence that the

def endant engaged i n "count ersurveill ance techni ques” to support the
concl usion that she was "an active participant in the cocaine
di stribution schene” and "nuch nore t han an i nnocent bystander”). The
t ruck stopped a nunber of tinmes alongits  route, taking hourstotravel
a di stance that the district judge esti mated shoul d t ake no nore t han
hal f an hour. The truck engaged i n evasi ve neasures such as u-turns
and driving wi thout headlights.?®

When t he cont ai ner eventual |y arrived at the truck yard,

6 As with nuch of the evidence in this case, the record
pr ovi des ot her possi bl e expl anati ons for these facts. W nust viewthe
evidence in the |light nost favorable to the governnment, however.
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ot her individuals arrived, greetings and congratul ations were
exchanged, and what may have been a firearmwas spotted. Ruiz-
Gal i ndez, Hernandez's enpl oyee and t he driver of the truck, took part
intherevelry over the seem ngly successful delivery of the cocai ne.
Acel ebration of the arrival of plastic cupsis hardly plausible. Wen
he was | ater i nterrogated by the police, Ruiz-Galindez was m sl eadi ng

in his account of his activities that day. Cf. United States v.

Bar bosa, 906 F. 2d 1366, 1368 (9th Cir. 1990) (noting that jury could
infer guilty know edge of contents of |uggage, in part, from
di screpancies in stories defendant toldto different federal agents).
Thi s inordinate | evel of attentiontothe container makes probabl e
Her nandez's knowl edge of its contents and their value. This is
sonet hi ng nore t han nere i nnocent presence at the scene of the crine.

C. Direct Sales Co. v. United States, 319 U.S. 703, 713 (1943) ("The

step fromknow edge to i ntent and agreenent may be taken. Thereis
nor e t han suspi ci on, nore t han know edge, acqui escence, carel essness,
i ndi fference, |ack of concern."). This conclusionis bolstered by the
fact that the container was takentothe J. R Transport | ot, rather
than directly to SATCO Gorbeawaswllingtoentrust this valuable
andillicit cargoto Hernandez for nore than the ti ne necessary to
drive it fromCrow ey Yard to SATCO

Earlier events al so support the jury's verdict. It is

reasonabl e to concl ude there had been at | east one prior cocaine
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shi pent usi ng t he sane pl astic cup ruse, and Her nandez' s enpl oyees had
delivered at | east one of the prior shipnents of plastic cups.
Her nandez' s trucki ng conpany was not general |y used by SATCG, it was
used only for certainplastic cup shipnents. O great weight isthe
fact that Gorbea wrote Hernandez' s nane on t he back of the fax from
Mari na Kassert i n Venezuel a requesting the name of the trucker with
whom t o make arrangenents for a shipment of plastic cups.

Gven all these facts, Hernandez's knowi ng partici pationin

the schene and his know edge of the container's contents is a

reasonabl e conclusion. Cf. Morillo, 158 F. 3d at 24 ("[J]uries may
i nfer a defendant's cul pabl e i nvol venent fromthe fact that other
conspirators continuedtheir crimnal activity despite the defendant's

arrival inadenof iniquity."); United States v. Cordoba, 104 F. 3d

225, 229 (9th Cir. 1997). The government's evi dence need not excl ude
"every reasonabl e hypot hesi s of i nnocence" but need only be sufficient
to all owa reasonable factfinder tofindguilt beyond a reasonabl e
doubt. Guerrero, 114 F.3d at 343 (internal quotation marks and
citation omtted); see Loder, 23 F.3d at 590. The resolution of
"conflicting factual statenents” and "any concom tant credibility
calls" areleft tothejury; we affirmwhere "the jury's deci pher nent
of the record represented a plausible choice anong reasonabl e
alternatives, all things considered.”" Otiz, 966 F.2d at 713. W

affirmthe district court's denial of Hernandez' s noti on for judgnent
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of acquittal.

B. Statements Made During Cl osing Argunents

Cor bea argues that certain statenents nade by t he prosecut or
during cl osi ng argunents denied himafair trial. First, he argues
t hat statenments nmade about the fax from Mari na Kassert to Gorbea
"msrepresented therecord and mslead [sic] thejury." Inparticular,
Gorbea points to the following statenent fromthe prosecutor:

Now, | adi es and gent| enmen, why does a shi pper i n Venezuel a
need t he nane of the trucker in Puerto Ri co, to square what ?

He argues that this statenent and others like it inproperlyreliedon
the fax to prove a crimnal associ ati on bet ween Kassert, Gorbea, and
Hernandez. This reliance was i nproper, Gorbea asserts, because t he fax
concerned an earlier shipnent that was not all eged to be a part of the
conspi racy and because Consorci o EFB, not Kassert, was |isted on the
bill of lading as the shipper of the seized container.

Second, Gorbea points to the foll ow ng statenent by the

prosecutor:

[All'l of a sudden M. Dougl as and ot hers because t he ot hers
tothe Gand Jury wel | known canme up with a pl an; you have
t he peopl e i n Venezuel a who we don't know but we knowt hat
t hey exi st because this shi pnment containing one billion
dol | ars worth of drugs canme fromVenezuel a and you nust
consider that if that shi pment i s goingtotake placethe
peopl e i nvol ved, that shi pped, want to knowfirst, want to
assure t hensel ves that t hey can use saf e neans and decei t f ul
means to get that shipnent to Puerto Rico and t hey want to
knowt hat the peopl e that they entrust this shipnent to are
with them otherwi se it wouldn't nake any sense.

And, of course, we are not charging that these
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def endant s were t he buyers of that cocai ne, no, they were
instrunents, they were conspirators and at sone point in
time they got onthat little train of bringingthe cocaine
from Col onbia to Puerto Rico for later distribution.
That shi pment nust have conme for [sic] a | ot of

peopl e because you wi I | renenber fromthe evidence that is
bef ore you that the bricks were marked i n di fferent ways .
. so that is to identify the shipnments and don't be
surprised that many people in Colonmbia pulled their
resources together to make thi s shi pnent, sone contri buted
maybe 100 kil os, other [sic] 300 kil os, and they made a
pool .
Gor bea says that this statenent, and in particul ar the | anguage "ot hers
to the Grand Jury well known," "went far beyond any evi dence or
supportabl e inferences at trial, all owed the prosecutor to becone an
unsworn wi tness, and explicitlylead[sic] thejuryto believethat
i nformati on not presented at trial, whichthe G and Jury had al ready
aut horitatively deci ded, supported the prosecutor's concl usion that the
telefax related to the seized shi pnment of cocaine.”
Gor bea | odged a cont enporaneous objection to the first
statenent, “and so we revi ewde novo t he questi on of whet her t he coment

was i nproper and revi ewfor abuse of discretionthe questi on whet her

t he m sconduct, if any, warrants anewtrial. See United States v.

Lewi s, 40 F. 3d 1325, 1337-38 (1st Gr. 1994). Prosecutors arefreeto

ask the jury to nmake reasonabl e i nferences fromt he evi dence submtted

! The specificity of this objectionis abit |lacking. Cf.
United States v. Auch, 187 F.3d 125, 128-29 (1st Cir. 1999). The
gover nment, however, does not argue this point and so, for the purposes
of appeal, we consi der Gorbea to have properly objected to this
coment .
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at trial. This statenent was not i nproper and "sinply call ed onthe
jury toenployits collective common sense in eval uatingthe evidence

and to drawreasonabl e i nferences therefrom" United States v. Abreu,

952 F. 2d 1458, 1471 (1st Cir. 1992) (internal quotation marks and
citationomtted). Corbea argues that the prosecutor msledthejury
with this comment by suggesting that the docunent had to dow th the
sei zed shi pnment of cocai ne. The governnent specifically saidthat the
docunment was dat ed February 1997 and that the result of this fax was
the first shipnent of plastic cups, which arrived in March. The
governnment certainly askedthejury, inthis comment and others, to
i nfer that the def endants reached an agreenent regardi ng t he schene
prior to the shipping of the seized cocai ne and may have even i nported
sone cocai ne prior tothe seizure, but thereis nothinginmproper in
suggesting that the jury drawsuch aninference. It goesdirectlyto
t he necessary el ements of the crines charged and i s based on the
evidence admtted at trial.

CGor bea al so argues that reliance onthe fax was i nproper
because it involved a shipnment outside the scope of the charged
conspiracy and because it was fromKassert, whereas t he sei zed shi pnent
was shi pped by Consorci o EFB. Gor bea has not chal | enged t he adm ssi on
of the fax, however, and t he governnent was freetorely on admtted
evi dence t o expl ai n "t he background, formation, and devel opnent of the

illegal relationship" and"to help the jury understandthe basis for
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t he co-conspirators' rel ationship of nutual trust." United States v.

Escobar - De Jesus, 187 F. 3d 148, 169 (1st Cir. 1999) (uphol di ng t he

adm ssi on of evi dence of bad acts outsi de the scope of the conspiracy
for this purpose).

As for the claimthat Kassert was not the shi pper of the
sei zed container, the governnent's coment was not m sl eadi ng.
Further, while the parti es have not pointed us to any evidenceinthe
record that directly |links Kassert with Consorcio EFB, there is
testi nony t hat Kassert was t he source for the plastic cup shipnents and
evi dence that at | east three of the previous plastic cup shipnments
(al t hough not the March shi pnment) canme fromConsorci o EFB. Thereis
certainly evidence fromwhichthejury couldinfer that Kassert was
i nked i n sone way to the shi pnents fromConsorci o EFB.2 And it was not
i mproper for the governnent to ask the jury to nmake such an i nf erence.

As to the second statenent, Gorbea's protest is really
targeted at two different statenents contained inthe paragraphs quoted
above. Hisfirst conplaint iswiththereferenceto "otherstothe
Grand Jury wel | known." Hi s second conpl aint i s about t he suggesti on
t hat drug suppliers pooled their resources to create the seized

shi pment. W eval uate t hese comment s separately, as Gorbea objectedto

8 It was suggested in oral argunent that Kassert ni ght have
been a broker of sorts for the Venezuel an shi pper.
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t he second st at ement, but not to t he first.?®
Wher e a defendant fails to object inaspecificandtinely
manner to al | egedly i nproper prosecutorial statements, our reviewis

only for plainerror. See Lewi s, 40 F. 3d at 1338-39; Arri et a- Agressot

v. United States, 3 F. 3d 525, 528 (1st G r. 1993). Thus, we reviewthe

comment regarding "others to the Gand Jury wel | known" under the plain
error standard. Under this standard, reversal is appropriateonlyif
t he i nproper argunent "so poi soned the well that thetrial's outcone

was |ikely affected.” Arrieta-Agressot, 3 F.3d at 528 (internal

quotation marks and citation omtted).

Gor bea says that this statement was "part of a carefully
crafted and inperm ssibletrial strategy ainmed at m sl eading the jury
intoinpermssibly inferring the governnent possessed additi onal
evi dence supporting their theory that Mari na Kassert was i nvolved in a
conspiracy because 'otherstothe G and Jury well known' had made a
pool to arrange for the drug shi pnent.” Mich nore plausibleisthe
governnent' s expl anation that the reference was "either aninvol untary
| apsus, by the prosecutor or an error by the court reporter who t ook

the phrase. . . inlieuof '"otherstothe G and Juryunknown' as is

9 CGor bea suggest s that t he obj ecti on he nade at t he very end
of the paragraphs quot ed above shoul d be sufficient to avoid plain
error reviewof the "others tothe Gand Jury well known" conment.
This was only a general objection, however, and it was far enough
renmoved fromthe "others tothe Gand Jury wel |l known" conment so as
not to put the district court onnotice. See Auch, 187 F. 3d at 128-29.
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charged intheindictnent” (enphasis added). After all, the reference
was directly followed by the statenent, "you have the people in
Venezuel a who we don't know but we knowt hat they exi st because this
shi pment contai ning one billion dollars worth of drugs canme from
Venezuel a.” This isolated and nost |i kel y non-deli berate statenment

coul d not have caused a m scarri age of justice. See United States v.

Sant ana- Camacho, 833 F. 2d 371, 373 (1st Cir. 1987) (" The pl ai n-error

exception to the contenporaneous objection rule is to be used
sparingly, solely inthose circunmstances in whichamn scarri age of
justice would otherwise result."”) (internal quotation marks and

citationomtted); United States v. Levy-Cordero, 67 F. 3d 1002, 1008-09

(st Cir. 1995).

As to the portion of the statenent that suggests that drug
suppliers pooledtheir resources to create the cocai ne shi pnent, we
revi ewde novo t he questi on whet her t he corment was i nproper and revi ew
for abuse of di scretionthe question whether anewtrial is warranted.
See Lew s, 40 F. 3d at 1337-38. This statenent was not i nproper. There
was evi dence at trial that the bricks of cocaine foundin the container
wer e mar ked and packaged i n di fferent ways. Sone of the bricks had
Wal t Di sney characters pasted on the outside, sone were wrapped i n
plastic, some in styrof oam and sone contained a reddish gel. A
Custons agent testifiedthat inhis experiencethese different nmethods

of packagi ng were usedtoidentify the supplier and, in sone cases, to
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identify the proper recipient. Contrary to Gorbea's suggestion, the
prosecutor's statenment was not outsi de of the scope of the evidence
presented at trial and did not allowthe prosecutor to becone an
unsworn witness. |t was entirely proper.

C. Adm ssion of Testinpny Regarding Street Val ue of Cocaine

Her nandez argues that it was an abuse of di scretion for the
trial court toadmt the testinony of Drug Enforcenment Agency Speci al
Agent James Casey. Casey testified that the street val ue of the
cocai ne sei zed fromt he contai ner was closetoabilliondollarsin
Puerto Rico at the time. Hernandez objected to this testinony at
trial, claimngthat it was irrel evant and that its probative val ue was
out wei ghed by the risk of unfair prejudice under Federal Rul e of
Evi dence 403. The district court overrul ed these objections and
al | owed the testinony, findingthat the street val ue of the cocai ne was
rel evant to the know edge of t he def endants and t hat any prej udi ci al
ef f ect was out wei ghed by t he evi dence' s probati ve val ue. The district
court said, "it certainly woul d be proper for thejury toinfer that
such a shi pment of such a worth certainly would not be left to be
handl ed by persons who did not know what was in there.”

On appeal , Hernandez argues that the trial court shoul d have
excluded t his evi dence because of its risk of unfair prejudice. He
says that the jury already had anpl e evidence fromwhich to draw

i nf erences regardi ng knowl edge and i ntent to distribute, inthe formof
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phot ogr aphs of the | oad and t esti nony regardi ng t he anmount of cocai ne
found in the container.
The di strict court's Rul e 403 bal anci ng stands unless it is

an abuse of discretion. See United States v. Rosario-Peralta, 199 F. 3d

552, 561 (1st Cir. 1999). The street val ue of cocaineisrelevant to

the i ssues of knowl edge, cf. Cordoba, 104 F. 3d at 229, andintent to

distribute, see United States v. Ri vera-Santi ago, 107 F. 3d 960, 969

(1st Gir. 1997); United States v. Rvera, 68F.3d5, 8 (1st Gr. 1995).

It istruethat "such evidence coul d concei vably becone substantially
nore prej udi cial than probativeif thefigureis|large enoughandif
ot her evidenceto proveintent todistributeis available." Rosario-
Peralta, 199 F.3d at 565. But inthis case, both defendants professed
i gnorance of the contents of the contai ner. They were both, they said,
sinmply |l egitimte busi nessnmen. The evi dence of street val ue of the
contraband i n t he shi pnent was neant to counter that contention. There
is no basis to second-guess the trial court's view.

D. Her ndndez' s Sent ence

Her ndndez argues that it was error to hol d hi mresponsi bl e
for the 3,017 kil ogranms of cocaine alleged in the charges. G ven
Hernandez's crim nal history category, this quantity resultedina
sent enci ng range of 235 to 293 nont hs under t he Sent enci ng Qui del i nes.
See U.S.S.G §2D1.1. Thedistrict court sentenced hi mto concurrent

293-nonth ternms. Hernandez argues that this sentence was excessi ve and
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that a m ni mum sentence of 120 nonths shoul d have been given.

| n drug cases, sentences are |l argely driven by the quantity

of the drugs invol ved. See United States v. Sepul veda, 15 F. 3d 1161,
1196 (1st Gr. 1993). "[I]nthe context of jointly undertaken cri m nal
activity, such as a conspiracy, a defendant is not automatically
saddl ed with the ful | wei ght of the conspiracy's wongdoi ng; rather, a
def endant i s responsi bl e for drugs he personal | y handl ed or anti ci pat ed
handl i ng, and, under the rel evant conduct rubric, for drugs involvedin
addi ti onal acts that were reasonably foreseeabl e by hi mand were
commtted in furtherance of the conspiracy." 1d. at 1197.

Her nandez ar gues t hat the 3, 017 ki | ograns of cocai ne shoul d
not be attri buted to hi mbecause t here was no evi dence t hat he had any
know edge of t he anmount of drugs inthe container. He says that nost
of thedistrict court's findingstothe contrary were not supported by
t he evidence i ntroduced at trial. Wt reviewa sentencingcourt's
findings regarding the quantity of drugs i nvol ved, the rol e pl ayed by
t he def endant, and the quantity reasonably foreseeabl e t o t he def endant

for clear error. See United States v. De La Cruz, 996 F. 2d 1307, 1314

(1st Cir. 1993); seealsoUnited States v. Graciani, 61 F. 3d 70, 74

10 Her nandez asserts that the district court acknow edged t hat
t here was no evi dence that he knewthe quantity of drugs i nvol ved.
This statenent isabit msleading. The district court stated that
while there was no "direct evidence" of know edge, the evidence
suggest ed that Hernandez "nust have known that there was a | arge
gquantity of drugs comng in."
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(1st Cir. 1995).

The i ssue here is straightforward: isthedistrict court's
findi ng that Hernandez knew or coul d have reasonably foreseen t he
gquantity of drugs contained in the seized container, which he was
directly involved in transporting, clearly erroneous? It was not.

Al'l of the evidence and i nferences di scussed i n connecti on
wi t h Hernandez' s chal l enge to the sufficiency of the evidence apply
with equal force here. Thedistrict court's conclusions were properly
rootedinthe evidence and its inferences founded i n | ogi cal reasoni ng.
"A def endant who conspires to transport for distribution alarge
guantity of drugs, but happens not to knowt he preci se amount, pretty
much t akes hi s chances that the anount actually involvedw || be quite

large.” De La Cruz, 996 F.2d at 1314.

Even if the district court's attribution of all 3,017
kil ograns to Hernandez coul d be faulted, we note that any error woul d

be harnl ess. See Sepul veda, 15 F. 3d at 1199-1200. The base of f ense

| evel assignedto Hernandez applies to crines involving 150 ki |l ograns
or nore of cocaine. See U S.S.G 8§ 2D1.1. Thus, as | ong as sone
amount equal to or exceeding 150 kil ograns can be attributed to
Her nandez, the sane sentencing range applies.
V.
After carefully considering each of the defendants’

chal l enges, we affirmtheir convictions and Hernandez's sentence.
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